IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL NO. 2008-CA-00640

APPEAL FROM

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY

LOIS KAIGLER on behalf of herself and her minor child, LESHAN KAIGLER

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

V.

 ρ

4.5

CIVIL ACTION NO. 04-0121

HANCOCK COUNTY, THE CITY OF BAY ST. LOUIS and VCJ GYM

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

ORIGINAL APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Submitted by: MATTHEW L. PEPPER 10536E Automall Parkway D'Iberville, MS 39540 (601) 427-1061 Fax(228) 863-1175 Attorney For Plaintiffs/Appellants Lois Kaigler and Leshan Kaigler

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL NO. 2008-CA-00640

APPEAL FROM

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

;

1. WHETHER THERE WERE STILL GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT TO PRECLUDE THE GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT

- 2. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS ENTITLED TO STATUTORY IMMUNITY IN LIGHT OF THE MISSISSIPPI FIRE PREVENTION CODE
- 3. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT BREACHED ITS DUTY OF ORDINARY CARE IF STATUTORY IMMUNITY IS FOUND NOT TO BE APPLICABLE- NORMALLY A QUESTION OF FACT

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NOW INTO COURT, through undersigned counsel, come plaintiffs/appellants, Lois Kaigler, on behalf of herself and her minor child, Leshan Kaigler, who submit this original appellate brief in support of their appeal from the lower court's rendition of Summary Judgment against them and would show to this Honorable Court the following:

1. CASE STATUS

A. Facts

The facts in this case are largely not in dispute by either side.

On December 11, 2002, Leshan Kaigler, who was 12 years old at the time, tagged along with his older sister to her basketball practice at the VCJ Gym in Bay St. Louis, Hancock County, Mississippi. Leshan had taken his basketball with him in the hope that he would have the opportunity to shoot some hoops. According to Leshan, while he was waiting for his sister and her team to finish practice with the coach, two older boys, Danny Dorsey and Demerik Williams came and took his basketball.

1

Leshan tried to retrieve it. The boys ran to an area of the gym which was in general disrepair, threw the basketball back and forth, and then Danny Dorsey threw the basketball through an opening between the roof and the drop down ceiling tiles. The basketball came to rest on top of the ceiling tiles.

At Leshan's request, Danny retrieved the ball only to throw it to Dermerik; Dermerik then threw the ball onto the drop down ceiling tiles again. Both Danny and Dermerik refused to get it so Leshan climbed up and onto the drop down ceiling tiles to retrieve his basketball, fell through the ceiling tiles to the floor below, and sustained a severe injury to his cervical spine and neck which has required two surgeries so far and has ended up restricting his mobility for life.

According to the Bay St. Louis Police Department in the Narrative Report completed by Officer Isreal Neff on December 11, 2002, as supplemented by the investigation of Officer Ernes Taylor and set forth in his Narrative Report, Derreck Lewis threw Kaigler's basketball on top of the false ceiling and Danny Dorsey went and got it for Kaigler. Then "Jr." took the ball from Kaigler and threw it on the ceiling. When Dorsey didn't immediately go get the ball, Kaigler "climbed on top of a box and pulled himself over the top of the wall" and began crawling on the ceiling tile, the ceiling tile broke and Leshan fell 10 - 12 feet before landing head first on the concrete floor in the hallway next to the water fountain. The incident occurred at approximately 6:14 p.m. on December 11, 2002.

B. Procedural Status

•

Plaintiffs filed suit on March 26, 2004 asserting that the injuries suffered by Leshan Kaigler were due to the negligence of Hancock County, the City of Bay St. Louis and VCJ Gym as follows:

- a. allowing a dangerous condition to exist for an unreasonable length of time;
- b. failing to repair and/or renovate the property;
- c. defendant knew or should have known of the dangerous
 - hazard of the building
- d. failure to adequately maintain premises in a safe condition; *and*
- e. failure and/or lack of supervision.

On August 3,2004, the City of Bay St Louis and the VCl Gym timely filed an Answer and Defenses and propounded discovery. Hancock County was dismissed without prejudice by Order dated August 4, 2005. Only the depositions of Leshan and Lois Kaigler have been completed and Plaintiffs have responded to Defendant's Requests for Production and Interrogatories. Defendants set forth the affidavits of Eddie Farve, Buzz Olsen and Gus McCay in an attempt to support their Motion for summary judgment. They were submitted in attempt to mislead the Court "that there were no statutes, regulations or ordinances that were in effect on December 11, 2002, or at any other time that imposed a duty or otherwise directed The City of Bay St. Louis on how to maintain or operate the VCJ Gym."

Nothing could be further from the truth. Since The City of Bay St. Louis is a political subdivision of the State of Mississippi, they are subject to ensuring compliance with the Mississippi Fire Prevention Code (hereinafter "MFPC"). The MFPC is absolutely clear that the City had an affirmative duty to keep the premises of the VCJ Gym in compliance with the "MFPC" and the facts indicate that they did not.

Accordingly, since they were under a statutory duty to maintain the VCJ Gym they are not entitled to immunity under the Mississippi Torts Claims act. At summary judgment the lower court ignored the defendant's *negligence per se* and ruled against plaintiffs. Plaintiffs then perfected this appeal.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

.

The fact that the Bay St. Louis VCJ Gym was owned and maintained by the City of Bay St. Louis does not free it from liability even under the Mississippi Torts Claims Act. Defendant's claim that the plaintiff's cannot defeat the alleged statutory immunity is ridiculous and not supported by Mississippi case law.

The Kaiglers can easily defeat this statutory immunity because plaintiffs have

made a *prima facia* showing of Leshan's status as an *invitee* therefore the City of Bay St. Louis cannot hide behind statutory immunity without the Court hearing the genuine issue of material fact regarding whether or not the City breached its *statutory duty of ordinary care* owed to the plaintiffs. Defendants had a duty under the MFPC to maintain the facility in accordance with the Code, and they simply did not. Accordingly, they had a duty to provide ordinary care and failed to exercise *ordinary care*. Leshan was injured due to a dangerous condition in the VCJ Gym which the City of Bay St. Louis caused by omission of action in this particular case, which was negligent and/or wrongful conduct, or of which Bay St. Louis had known for years and failed remedy the situation or to warn or take any action on. This was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injury.

Leshan was injured after he fell from the spare room ceiling which was suspended 12 feet above the level of the floor. The ceiling at issue was in a room which was in general disrepair and served as storage for old furniture, office equipment and trash, presenting an attractive nuisance and unsafe condition for minors. Had a door to this room been put in place or the entrance been walled up the public would not have had free access to it. This would have been *ordinary care* of a dangerous condition. *After Leshan's injury took place, this is in fact what the City actually did.* (Exhibit "C" of original opposition memo). They had known about the room for years yet they did absolutely nothing, (Exhibit "D" of original opposition memo.) and the notion that they did not have adequate time to do anything about the problem is ludicrous. Further, the action that had to be taken to render the area safe was so easy that omitting to do anything borders on gross negligence and was definitely was the proximate cause of Leshan's injury. In light of the affirmative duties imposed on the City by the MFPC their inaction was *negligence per se*.

V. ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs do not have to prove all the elements of their case in order to defeat summary judgment. All they need to do is demonstrate that there are genuine issues of material fact. *Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center* 929 So. 2^d 924 (Miss App 2005). Plaintiffs will prove at trial that the injuries Leshan suffered on December 11, 2002 were due to the negligence of the Defendants under the theories of negligent supervision and/or premises liability.

The liability of the defendant in this case is premised ultimately on Leshan's status while he was at the VCJ Gym. This is true because of the Mississippi Torts Claims Act which protects the State of Mississippi and its governmental subdivisions from liability and it sets the standard of care to which the defendants will be held liable to. This standard of care also determines whether or not the City of Bay St. Louis will be entitled to statutory immunity. Defendant admits first that plaintiff was an *invitee* then attempts to convince the Court without supporting facts that somehow he was able to change his legal status as to the defendants yet they claim there are no genuine issues of material facts.

As for genuine issues of material fact, nearly every ground sought by defendant in support of summary judgment in their favor has already been determined by precedent to

-10-

be genuine issues of material fact therefore precluding summary judgment. The lower court ignored such long established precedent and plaintiff will so demonstrate.

1. LAW

Α.

4

Summary Judgment Standard

The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure authorize the granting of summary judgment

where there are no genuine issues of material fact as set forth in pertinent part in Rule 56(c), as

follows:

... The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone, although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

A party against whom a claim is asserted may move with or without supporting affidavit for summary judgment in his favor, so long as the motion is served at least ten days before the time fixed for the hearing. *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 56. Initially, the party moving for a summary judgment bears the responsibility of providing the court with the basis of its motion and identifying the portions of the record in the case which establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Franklin* v. *Thompson*, 722 So.2d 688, 691 (Miss. 1998); Howard v City of Biloxi, 949 So.2d 751 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

However, once the moving party has properly supported his motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must respond by setting forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Brown* v. *Credit Ctr. Inc.*, 444 So.2d 358, 36~ (Miss.1983).

The party opposing the motion must be diligent and may not rest upon allegations or denials in the pleadings, but must by allegations or denials set forth specific facts showing that there are genuine issues for trial. *Richmond* v. *Benchmark Construction Corp.*, 692 So.2d 60,61 (Miss. 1997). In other words, "when a motion for summary judgment is filed, the nonmoving party must rebut by producing significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial." *Foster* v. *Noel*, 715 So.2d 174, 180 (Miss. 1998) *(citations omitted)*. "Mere allegation or denial of material fact is insufficient to generate a triable issue of fact and avoid an adverse rendering of summary judgment. More specifically, the plaintiff may not rely solely upon the unsworn allegations in the pleadings, or arguments and assertions in briefs or legal memoranda." *Palmer* v. *Biloxi Regional Medical Ctr.*, 564 So. 2d 1346, 1356 (Miss. 1990).

All the non moving party needs to do in order to defeat a motion for summary judgment is to establish a genuine issue of material fact. The non moving party does not have to prove all the elements of its case in order to survive a pretrial summary judgment motion; rather the non moving party only has to demonstrate that there are genuine issues of material fact. *Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center* 929 So. 2nd 924 (Miss 2005)

Primarily, the trial court must carefully review all evidentiary matters in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Delmont* v *Harrison County School District*, 944 *So. 2d* 131 (*Miss. Ct. App. 2006*); *Brown v, Credit Ctr., Inc.,* 444 So. 2d at 362. Summary judgment should be viewed with a skeptical eye, and in questionable cases, the trial court should deny the motion *Partin: supra*.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that summary judgment is not favored and should only be granted with great caution. *Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary* 656 So. 2nd 790(Miss 1995).

B.

ł

Negligence

The elements of negligence are: duty, breach of duty, proximate cause and damages, *Schepens* v *City of Long Beach*, 924 So. 2d 620, 623(Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In a negligence action where summary judgment is at issue, the plaintiff must rebut the defendant's claim(i.e. that no genuine issues of material fact exists) by producing supportive evidence of significant and probative value; this evidence must show that the defendant breached the established standard of care and that such breach was the proximate cause of his injury. *Palmer, supra.*

C.

Premises Liability

Mississippi applies a three step process in determining premises liability: first, the

injured party must be classified as an invitee, licensee or trespasser; second, the duty of the business or landowner owes the injured party is determined; and, third, a determination is made as to whether the business or landowner breached its duty. *Thompson* v *Chick-Fil-A*, *Inc.*, 923 So. 2d 1049 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Cook* v *Pay less Shoesource*, *Inc.*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33151 (S. D. Miss. 2006). The duty owed by the Defendants to Plaintiff depends upon their relationship to each other. *Skelton* v *Twin County Rural Electric Assoc.*, 611 So. 2d 931, 936 (Miss. 1992).

D.

. .

Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9 - Mississippi Tort Claims Act

The City of Bay St. Louis owns the municipal building that houses the VCJ Gym, the police station and the fire station, which are all connected thus the Mississippi Tort Claims Act provides the exclusive remedy available to the Plaintiff. *Howard* v *City of Biloxi*, 943 So. 2d 751, 754(Miss. Ct. App, 2006). For purposes of this Motion, the pertinent provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 Annotated as follows:

(1) A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:

(d) Based upon the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty on the part of a governmental entity or employee thereof, whether or not the discretion be abused;

(g) Arising out of the exercise of discretion in determining whether or not to seek or provide the resources necessary for the purchase of equipment, the construction or maintenance of facilities, the hiring of personnel and, in general, the provision of adequate governmental services;

(v) Arising out of an injury caused by a dangerous condition on property of the governmental entity that was not caused by the negligent or other wrongful conduct of an employee of the governmental entity or of which the governmental entity did not have notice, either actual or constructive, and adequate opportunity to protect or warn against; provided that a governmental entity shall not be liable for the failure to warn of a dangerous condition which is obvious to one exercising due care;

Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9 (1972, as amended).

۱,

A governmental entity and its employees shall not be liable for any claim:

(b) Arising out of any act or omission of an employee or governmental entity *exercising ordinary care* in reliance upon, or in the execution of performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute ordinance, regulation, whether or not the statute, ordinance or regulation be valid;

Miss Code Ann Sec 11-46-9(1)(b)(as amended 1999)

(1). Established Premises Liability Doctrine and the Status of The Plaintiff Determines the Standard of Care which, in turn, determines the viability Defendant's Defense of Soverign Immunity.

Generally, Mississippi applies a three step process in determining premises liability. First the injured party must be classified as an invitee, a licencee or a trespasser. Second the duty of the business or landowner owed the injured party is determined and, third a determination is made as to whether the business or land owner breached his duty. *Thompson v Chick-Fil-A, Inc.*, 923 So. 2d 1049 (Miss. App. 2006); Cook v Pay less Shoesource, Inc., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33151 (S. D.

Miss. 2006).

1

Was Leshan an invitee, a licensee or a trespasser at the time of his fall?

The parameters of these three classifications were reaffirmed by the

Mississippi Supreme Court in Leffler v Sharp, as follows:

... an invitee is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage ... A licensee is one who enters upon the property of another for his own convenience, pleasure, or benefit pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner whereas a trespasser is one who enters upon another's premises without license, invitation, or other right." Corley v. Evans, 835 So. 2d 30,37 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added) (citing Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co., 358 So. 2d 1008, 1011 (Miss. 1978) (citing Langford v. Mercurio, 254 Miss. 788, 183 So. 2d 150 (1966)); [**8] Wright v. Caffey, 239 Miss. 470, 123 So. 2d 841 (1960)). The Court has added that a trespasser enters another's property "merely for his own purposes, pleasure, or convenience, or out of curiosity, and without any enticement, allurement, inducement or express or implied assurance of safety from the owner or person in charge." Titus, 844 So. 2d at 459 (citing White v. Miss. Power & Light Co., 196 So, 2d 343,349 (Miss. 1967)).

Leffler v Sharp, 891 So. 2d 152, 156 - 157(Miss. 2004).

In Mississippi, a person using municipal property is generally considered an invitee *Glorioso* v *YMCA*, 540 So. 2d 638, 641(Miss. 1989) Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann § 17 -1-1, et. seq., In as much as Leshan was an *invitee* at the VCJ Gym he was entitled to the ordinary standard of care. Even defendants so admit. Without getting into the issue of

whether the operation and maintenance of the VCJ Gym was a *discretionary* function of the City of Bay St. Louis for purposes of the Mississippi Torts Claims Act, lets just assume that it was for the sake of argument. That notwithstanding, *a duty of ordinary care is imposed on all discretionary duties* by Miss Code Ann. 11-46-9(1)(b). *Leflore County v. Givens* 754 So2d 1223 (Miss 2000). Mississippi Code Ann Sec. 11-46-9(1)(b) reads in pertinent part:

A governmental entity and its employees shall not be liable for any claim:

(b) Arising out of any act or omission of an employee or governmental entity exercising ordinary care in reliance upon, or in the execution of performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute ordinance, regulation, whether or not the statute, ordinance or regulation be valid;

Miss Code Ann Sec 11-46-9(1)(b)(as amended 1999)

4

To the extent that defendants want to cast Leshan in any light other than that of an invitee, the facts as to status are hotly disputed by the parties. This in and of itself is a question and genuine issue of material fact which can only be determined at trial in the matter therefore making summary judgment in appropriate.

Mississippi case law is clear on this issue. Where a plaintiff has made a *prima facia* showing that he was an *invitee* on the premises of the defendant, that is sufficient to defeat an attempt by the defendants to dismiss the case on summary judgement. *Hall v. Cagle 773* So2d 928. The Mississippi Supreme Court has embraced the definitions of *invitee* as provided in the Restatement of Torts (2d) Sec. 332 (1965) which provides that :

(2) a public invitee is a person who is invited to enter or remain on land as a member of the public for a purpose for which the land is open to the public. Martin v. B.P. Exploration & Oil Co. 769 So2d 261(Miss App 2000)

In the case at bar defendants admit that Leshan was an *invitee*. The deposition testimony indicates clearly he was an invitee. Under these definitions plaintiff has adequately demonstrated that he has a *prima facia* case that he was a *public invitee* and therefore, was entitled to the ordinary standard of care required by Miss Code Ann. 11-46-9(1)(b). As such, defendant's immunity under the MTCA is not impervious, but is subject to the Court's scrutiny at trial as to whether that duty of care was breached and to dismiss the case at this point would not be treating the facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. Where the state actor fails to use ordinary care, there is no shield of immunity. *Leflore* at 1227.

(2). Unresolved Sub Questions Pretermitting Summary Judgment in Defendant's Favor

(a) WAS THE OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE VCJ GYM TRULY A DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION OF THE CITY OF BAY ST. LOUIS?

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