IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 2008-CA-00640

LOIS KAIGLER on behalf of herself and her minor child, LESHAN KAIGLER

APPELLANTS

V.

HANCOCK COUNTY, THE CITY OF BAY ST. LOUIS and VCJ GYM

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY CIVIL ACTION NO. 04-0121

BRIEF OF APPELLEE THE CITY OF BAY ST. LOUIS AND VCJ GYM

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

BRENDA G. LONG - MS BAR EDWARD C. TAYLOR - BAR KRISTI R. ROGERS - BAR DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A. 1712 15TH STREET, SUITE 400 P.O. BOX 416 GULFPORT, MISSISSIPPI 39502-0416 TELEPHONE: (228) 864-8117 FACSIMILE: (228) 864-6331

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At all times relevant to this matter, the VCJ Gym was located in a municipal building owned and maintained by the City of Bay St. Louis, therefore Bay St. Louis is immune from the allegations of negligence asserted by the Kailgers pursuant to the Mississippi Torts Claim Act.

Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1, et. seq. The maintenance and operation of the VCJ Gym was within the discretion of Bay St. Louis.

The Kaiglers cannot defeat this statutory immunity because there are no relevant material facts to support any allegation that Leshan was injured due to a dangerous condition in the VCJ Gym which Bay St. Louis caused by negligence or wrongful conduct, or of which Bay St. Louis had actual or constructive notice and failed to warn.

Leshan was injured after he fell from the hallway ceiling which was suspended 12 feet above the level of the floor. The ceiling was not a dangerous condition. The ceiling was certainly not hidden or camouflaged or otherwise constructed to resemble anything other than ordinary common ceiling tiles. The ceiling was simply that: ceiling tiles placed in a drop down ceiling suspended 12 feet above the level of the floor and clearly visible to anyone that looked up. Unless a ceiling caves in on someone as they walk underneath, a ceiling is not dangerous. The ceiling was not unlike the ceilings found in homes and businesses throughout Mississippi and there is no requirement that warning signs be posted.

Even if the action of the two boys in throwing Leshan's basketball onto the ceiling tiles had been found to have somehow created a dangerous condition, Bay St. Louis had no knowledge that the dangerous condition had been created. Therefore, Bay St. Louis did not have adequate time to warn against the condition. The condition of the ceiling was not the proximate cause of Leshan's injury. The cause of the injury was the independent intervening acts of two boys.

Plaintiffs have raised the issue of whether the VCJ Gym was maintained in compliance with the fire code. Plaintiffs have not offered any evidence to support their allegations that the building

did not meet the applicable fire code. At the hearing on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Eddie Bourgeois, the City of Bay St. Louis Fire Inspector, was present and prepared to offer testimony that the VCJ Gym was in compliance with the applicable fire code. Plaintiffs objected to this proffer of testimony, and prior to Defendants submission of an affidavit from the Fire Inspector, the trial court entered its Judgment granting the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment finding that no issue of genuine fact existed and that the Plaintiffs had failed to provide any affidavit or other evidence to establish that the applicability of the fire codes or how any alleged violation caused or contributed to Leshan's fall.

The Plaintiffs did not offer any evidence to rebut the Summary Judgment motion filed by Defendants. Defendants agree that the Plaintiffs do not have to prove all elements of their case in order to defeat summary judgment; however, they are required to produce evidence to rebut that presented by the Defendants and it is clear that they did not. Plaintiffs contend that they "will prove at trial" yet to proceed to trial Plaintiffs were required to overcome the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, which they have failed to do.

The Judgement entered by Circuit Judge Stephen B. Simpson found that "the maintenance and operation of the VCJ Gym is a discretionary function and within the immunity granted by Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9 (1)(d)." (Record Excerpt 8). The court also found that "there was no other duty to supervise established by Plaintiffs which could give rise to liability on the part of the City of Bay St. Louis." (Record Excerpt 8).

The trial court, citing *Glorioso v. YMCA*, 540 So.2d 638, 641 (Miss. 1989), found that when Leshan Kaigler entered the gym he was an invitee, and that the City of Bay St. Louis owed

him the duty of ordinary care to keep the gym premises in reasonably safe condition and to warn of dangerous conditions which were not apparent and which the city knew or, through the exercise of reasonable care, should have known about. (Record Excerpt 8). The court correctly held that the ceiling was not a dangerous condition, and that the Plaintiffs had failed to provide any evidence from which a reasonable finder of fact could conclude that the ceiling constituted a dangerous condition. (Record Excerpt 8). Therefore, there was no duty to warn, as there was no dangerous condition. The trial court further found that Leshan created the danger to himself when he chose to crawl onto the ceiling tiles to retrieve his basketball; this action and not the premises was dangerous. When Leshan scaled the wall to climb onto the drop down ceiling he also lost his status as an invitee and became a trespasser. Thus, the duty owed to Leshan was to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring him. No evidence was presented, by the Plaintiffs, which would show that there are material issues of fact in dispute and therefore the Hancock County Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment was proper and should be affirmed.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is a viable method of resolving premises liability cases. In *Ratciff v.*Rainbow Casino Partnership the Mississippi Court of Appeals expressly rejected a request by the Plaintiff that the Court adopt a procedural requirement that all premises liability cases must go to a jury holding that "summary judgment was available to help unclog already over crowded dockets by throwing out cases where a Plaintiff is unable to show any genuine issue of material fact."

Ratcliff v. Rainbow Casino Partnership, 914 So. 2d 762, 767 ¶14 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo, and "examines all the evidentiary matters before it - - admissions, pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc." City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So. 2d 977, 979 ¶7 (Miss. 2001). The moving party has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material facts exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of every doubt concerning the existence of a material fact. Id. "If no genuine issue of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should be entered in that party's favor." Monsanto Co. v. Hall, 912 So. 2d 134, 136 ¶5 (Miss. 2005).

The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure authorize the granting of summary judgment where there are no genuine issues of material fact as set forth in pertinent part in Rule 56(c), as follows:

. . . The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone, although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

A party against whom a claim is asserted may move with or without supporting affidavits for summary judgment in his favor, so long as the motion is served at least ten days before the time fixed for the hearing. *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 56. Initially, the party moving for a summary judgment bears the responsibility of providing the court with the basis of its motion and identifying the portions of the record in the case which establish the absence of a genuine issue of material

fact. Franklin v. Thompson, 722 So.2d 688, 691 ¶8 (Miss. 1998); Howard v City of Biloxi, 943 So.2d 751,754 ¶4(Miss. Ct. App. 2006). However, once the moving party has properly supported his motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must respond by setting forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. Brown v. Credit Ctr. Inc., 444 So.2d 358, 363 (Miss. 1983).

The party opposing the motion must be diligent and may not rest upon allegations or denials in the pleadings, but must by allegations or denials set forth specific facts showing that there are genuine issues for trial. *Id. citing* Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). In other words, "when a motion for summary judgment is filed, the nonmoving party must rebut by producing significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial." *Foster v. Noel*, 715 So.2d 174, 180 ¶35 (Miss.1998) (*citations omitted*). "Mere allegation or denial of material fact is insufficient to generate a triable issue of fact and avoid an adverse rendering of summary judgment. More specifically, the plaintiff may not rely solely upon the unsworn allegations in the pleadings, or arguments and assertions in briefs or legal memoranda." *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Ctr.*, 564 So. 2d 1346, 1356 (Miss. 1990).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has said that "where a party opposes summary judgment on a claim or defense as to which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, and when the moving party can show a complete failure of proof on an essential element of the claim or defense, then all other issues become immaterial, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, 519 So.2d 413, 416 (Miss.1988). Finally, the trial court must carefully review all evidentiary matters in the light most favorable to the non-

moving party. Delmont v Harrison County School District, 944 So. 2d 131,133 ¶4 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So. 2d 358, 363 (Miss. 1983).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently upheld the granting of summary judgment when an analysis of the relevant material facts demonstrates that the non-moving party cannot prevail against the defendant as a matter of law. See *Massey v. Tingle*, 867 So. 2d 235, 238 ¶7 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Hudson v. Courtesy Motors, Inc.*, 794 So. 2d 999, 1002 ¶7(Miss. 2001)).

ARGUMENT

I. THE KAIGLERS HAVE FAILED TO SHOW THAT LESHAN WAS INJURED DUE TO A DANGEROUS CONDITION IN THE VCJ GYM WHICH BAY ST. LOUIS CAUSED BY NEGLIGENCE OR WRONGFUL CONDUCT, OR OF WHICH BAY ST. LOUIS HAD ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE AND FAILED TO WARN.

Plaintiffs have asserted that the injuries Leshan suffered on December 11, 2002 were due to the negligence of the Defendants under the theories of negligent supervision and/or premises liability. (Record Excerpt 1) In order to prevail under either of their theories, Plaintiffs must establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, all four elements of negligence, which are duty, breach of duty, proximate cause and damages. *Schepens v. City of Long Beach*, 924 So. 2d 620, 623 ¶9 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Mississippi applies a three step process in determining premises liability: first, the injured party must be classified as an invitee, licensee or trespasser; second, the duty of the business or landowner owes the injured party is determined; and, third, a determination is made as to whether the business or landowner breached its duty. *Thompson v. Chick-Fil-A, Inc.*, 923 So. 2d 1049, 1052 §8 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Cook v. Payless Shoesource, Inc.*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33151

(S. D. Miss. 2006). The duty owed by the Defendants to Plaintiffs' depends upon their relationship to each other. *Skelton v. Twin County Rural Electric Assoc.*, 611 So. 2d 931, 936 (Miss. 1992). In order to establish what duty was owed to Leshan by The City of Bay St. Louis and The VCJ Gym, Leshan's status must be determined.

A. What was Leshan's status at the time he entered the gym and at the time of his injury?

The parameters of the classification for an invitee, licensee and trespasser were reaffirmed by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Leffler v. Sharp*, as follows:

... an *invitee* is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner or occupant for their mutual advantage. . A *licensee* is one who enters upon the property of another for his own convenience, pleasure, or benefit pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner whereas a *trespasser* is one who enters upon another's premises without license, invitation, or other right." *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 37 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added) (*citing Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co.*, 358 So. 2d 1008, 1011 (Miss. 1978) (*citing Langford v. Mercurio*, 254 Miss. 788, 183 So. 2d 150 (1966)); *Wright v. Caffey*, 239 Miss. 470, 123 So. 2d 841 (1960)). The Court has added that a trespasser enters another's property "merely for his own purposes, pleasure, or convenience, or out of curiosity, and without any enticement, allurement, inducement or express or implied assurance of safety from the owner or person in charge." *Titus*, 844 So. 2d at 459 (*citing White v. Miss. Power & Light Co.*, 196 So. 2d 343, 349 (Miss. 1967)).

Leffler v Sharp, 891 So. 2d 152, 156 - 157 ¶11 (Miss. 2004).

In Mississippi, a person using municipal property is generally considered an invitee. Glorioso v. YMCA, 540 So. 2d 638, 641(Miss. 1989). Although Lois Kaigler, Leshan's mother, admitted that at the time of Leshan's accident the gym was only open for girls who had practice, she also stated that the League Coach had given Leshan permission to be there if he sat quietly.

(Record Excerpt 4 - Deposition of Lois Kaigler sp.28) Thus, for the purposes of the Motion For Summary Judgment, and taking the facts in the light most favorable to Leshan, the Defendants did not disagree that Leshan was an "invitee" when he entered the Gym. However, at the time of the accident, Leshan's classification had changed to "trespasser."

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a person's classification changes from invitee to trespasser once the person goes beyond the bounds of his invitation. Leffler v. Sharp, 891 So. 2d 152, 157 ¶15 (Miss. 2004) (citing Payne v. Rain Forest Nurseries, Inc., 540 So. 2d 35, 38(Miss. 1989)). In Leffler, the Mississippi Supreme Court addressed a situation in which the parties had stipulated that Plaintiff Walter Leffler was an invitee when he entered the business premises of the Quarter Inn, but disagreed on his classification at the time he was injured. Leffler, 891 So. 2d at 155-156 ¶7. Leffler and some co-workers had been having a night on the town before ending up at the Quarter Inn around 2 a.m. Id., at 155 \(\bigg 2 \). At some point after his arrival, Leffler wanted some fresh air. He had noticed that two other patrons were outside a narrow second story window on an adjacent roof top. When he then observed them re-entering the Quarter Inn by climbing through a small window, he decided that he would climb through the small window out onto the adjacent roof top to escape "the crowd, loud music, heat and smoke a cigarette." Id., at 158 \(\frac{1}{2}0\). After climbing through the window and taking a few steps on the rooftop, Leffler fell through the roof and landed 20 feet below. The Leffler Court determined that at the time of the injury Leffler was not an invitee because he was not invited to go onto the roof, and was not a licensee because he had not been given implied permission to go onto the roof. Id., at 158 ¶19. The Leffler Court held that when Leffler climbed out of a window and onto the roof, Leffler was a trespasser. Id., at 159-160 \(\quad 24. \)

In the present case, when Leshan scaled the 12 foot wall to climb onto a drop down ceiling, Leshan lost his status as an invitee and became a trespasser. Leshan had gone beyond the bounds of where he was invited to be. There was no invitation or implied permission for the public to scale the walls of gym and climb on the ceilings. Thus at the time of the accident Leshan was a trespasser.

B. What duty was owed to Leshan?

On December 11, 2002, the duty Bay St. Louis initially owed to Leshan, as well as to his sister Tywanna, as "invitees" to the Gym can be compared to the general duty owed by a "business owner" to a "business invitee." Bay St. Louis was charged with a duty of ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition, and to warn of dangerous conditions which were not apparent to the invitee and of which Bay St. Louis knew or through the exercise of reasonable care should have known. However, Bay St. Louis was not the insurer against all injuries which might have occurred at the VCJ Gym. *Miss. Dept. Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v Brannon*, 943 So. 2d 53, 64 ¶30 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

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